STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Greenville County  
Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Circuit Court Judge

---

ANTONIO OCHOA-TAVERA,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001115

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JAN 24 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

## ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Did the court correctly grant Petitioner a belated direct appeal pursuant to White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 108 S.E.2d 35 (1974), where trial counsel failed to timely file a notice of appeal on Petitioner's behalf and Petitioner did not knowingly and intelligently waive his right to a direct appeal?

2.

Whether Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel failed to prepare Petitioner to testify before trial and ultimately advised Petitioner not to testify in his defense merely because counsel did not want to lose the right to the last closing argument, and where Petitioner was prejudiced because if he would have testified in his defense, there is a reasonable probability the outcome of his trial would have been different?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Phillip Lewis was arrested on April 25, 2014 for trafficking methamphetamine, distribution of cocaine base, possession with intent to distribute marijuana, possession of a controlled substance, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. App. 206, l. 15 – 207, l. 3; App. 234, ll. 8-9. He was facing fifty-six years imprisonment. App. 239, l. 23 – 243, l. 2. After he posted bond, Lewis contacted Special Agent Randy Smith with the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA). He told Agent Smith he could “purchase ounce quantities of crystal methamphetamine from a Hispanic male.” App. 177, ll. 13-16. Lewis hoped by assisting the DEA he would “earn some leniency on [his] charges.” App. 207, ll. 4-8.

On July 1, 2014, Lewis called Mauricio Ramirez and arranged to purchase eight ounces of methamphetamine for eight thousand four hundred dollars. The two agreed to meet in the Wal-Mart parking lot off Whitehorse Road in Greenville the following day. App. 178, l. 17 – 179, l. 21. Law enforcement planned the operation as a “buy-bust,” meaning once Lewis saw the drugs, officers would move in and arrest Ramirez. App. 179, l. 22 – 180, l. 13. During a “buy-bust,” officers “do not allow the money to be brought out there for fear we could be robbed.” App. 179, l. 22 – 180, l. 1.

Shortly before the meeting, Lewis was outfitted with a “wire,” which provided officers with a live audio feed of the transaction. App. 180, ll. 2-8. He then drove to Wal-Mart in his own vehicle where he met Ramirez. App. 181, ll. 8-22. Lewis demanded to see the methamphetamine to make sure it was of good quality. He told Ramirez “that his money man, the guy with the money, was located directly up the street at a bank” waiting on word from Lewis. App. 181, ll. 11-22. However, Ramirez admitted he did not have the drugs with him, but “was willing to show him the eight ounces” at a nearby apartment. App. 182, l. 2 – 183, l. 4.

Lewis followed Ramirez to a convenience store down the road where Ramirez left his van and got into Lewis' truck. Ramirez then directed Lewis to an apartment complex less than a minute away. App. 183, l. 10 – 186, l. 11.

Lewis claimed a man, who was later identified as Petitioner, pulled into the apartment complex at the same time as he and Ramirez and joined them. App. 186, ll. 12-18. The three walked to an apartment. Manuel Cruz, who was later identified as the lessee, opened the door for them. App. 217, ll. 11-20. Lewis claimed Petitioner led him into a bedroom, reached under a dresser, and pulled out a grocery bag containing what appeared to be nine ounces of methamphetamine. According to Lewis, Petitioner took four “ziplock bags” of methamphetamine out of the grocery bag and placed them on the bed. After Lewis saw the drugs and Ramirez assured him the drugs were “good,” Lewis left telling Ramirez he was going to get the money and would return. App. 218, l. 2 – 223, l. 8.

Within minutes of Lewis leaving, officers entered the apartment without a warrant and detained Petitioner, Ramirez, and Cruz. Investigator Jonathan Garrett with the Greenville County Sheriff's Office eventually obtained a search warrant for the apartment and seized what was later confirmed to be 273.26 grams of methamphetamine. App. 309, l. 7 – 311, l. 18; App. 339, l. 25 – 343, l. 2. Petitioner, Ramirez, and Cruz were all charged with trafficking methamphetamine. Ramirez ultimately pled guilty and agreed to testify against Petitioner. App. 257, ll. 3-20.

A Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner on November 25, 2014 for trafficking methamphetamine, two hundred grams or more, but less than four hundred grams. App. 504-505. His case was called to trial on February 9, 2015 before the Honorable Daniel D. Hall, and a jury. App. 1. He was tried jointly with his codefendant Manuel Cruz. App. 1.

Assistant Solicitor Joyce Monts represented the state, Scott D. Robinson represented Petitioner, and John Crangle represented Cruz. On February 11, 2015, the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. App. 442, ll. 9-19. He was sentenced to the mandatory minimum of twenty-five years imprisonment. App. 445, ll. 12-19. Judge Hall granted a mistrial as to Manuel Cruz as the jury could not reach a unanimous decision. App. 441, ll. 12-24.

On July 16, 2015, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 451-459. The state filed a return to this application dated January 29, 2016. App. 460-464. An evidentiary hearing was convened on April 16, 2018 before the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr. App. 465. Assistant Attorney General Deshawn H. Mitchell represented the state, and R. Mills Ariail, Jr. represented Petitioner. App. 464. By order filed May 31, 2018, Judge Maddox granted Petitioner a belated direct appeal pursuant to White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 108 S.E.2d 35 (1974). However, he denied Petitioner relief on his remaining grounds. App. 496-503.

Because Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated, this petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The court correctly granted Petitioner a belated direct appeal pursuant to *White v. State*, 263 S.C. 110, 108 S.E.2d 35 (1974), where trial counsel failed to timely file a notice of appeal on Petitioner's behalf and Petitioner did not knowingly and intelligently waive his right to a direct appeal.

The PCR court correctly granted Petitioner a belated direct appeal pursuant to *White v. State*, 263 S.C. 110, 108 S.E.2d 35 (1974). The court found Petitioner “did not knowingly and intelligently waive his right to a direct appeal” and “is entitled to an appeal from his conviction.” App. 500-501. Moreover, both counsel for Respondent and counsel for Petitioner consented to the grant of a belated direct appeal. App. 467, l. 21 – 468, l. 13; App. 501.

“The appropriate scope of review of this Court is that any evidence of probative value is sufficient to uphold the PCR judge's findings.” *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). This case meets that standard. At the beginning of the evidentiary hearing, the assistant attorney general told the court it was his understanding, based on his conversation with Scott Robinson, Petitioner's trial counsel, that Robinson did not timely file a notice of appeal. App. 468, ll. 2-5. Consequently, the state conceded Petitioner was entitled to a belated direct appeal. App. 468, ll. 4-5. This evidence supports the PCR judge's conclusion that Petitioner is entitled to a belated direct appeal pursuant to *White v. State*.

Respectfully, this Court should grant the petition for writ of certiorari and consider Petitioner's belated direct appeal.

Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel failed to prepare Petitioner to testify before trial and ultimately advised Petitioner not to testify in his defense merely because counsel did not want to lose the right to the last closing argument, and where Petitioner was prejudiced because if he would have testified in his defense, there is a reasonable probability the outcome of his trial would have been different.

Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel failed to prepare Petitioner to testify before trial and ultimately advised Petitioner not to testify in his defense merely because counsel did not want to lose the right to the last closing argument. Petitioner was prejudiced because if he would have testified in his defense, there is a reasonable probability the outcome of his trial would have been different.

Petitioner testified at the evidentiary hearing that he "wanted to defend myself but Mr. Robinson [trial counsel] told me that it was better that I not say anything." App. 471, l. 20 – 472, l. 3. Petitioner explained that on the day he was arrested he was in the process of moving from the trailer where he lived with his wife. That morning he loaded his truck with all his possessions, such as pots and pans. However, he needed help moving a mattress. He drove to the apartment where he was ultimately arrested to pick up his friend who had agreed to help him move the mattress. Petitioner said he did not have time to talk to anyone that day and was not involved in any drug transactions. He denied the drugs belonged to him. App. 472, l. 20 – 474, l. 4; App. 476, l. 21 – 477, l. 10. This is the evidence Petitioner would have presented if he had testified at trial. He said the only reason he did not testify was because counsel "told me not to." App. 474, ll. 2-8.

Petitioner explained that he went to trial because he is innocent. App. 476, ll. 1-20. He denied the state's offer to plead guilty to a lesser included offense "because I wasn't going to admit to something that I didn't do." App. 477, l. 19 – 478, l. 4. He asserted, "I was never going to plead guilty because I wasn't guilty." App. 478, ll. 12-16.

Scott Robinson, Petitioner's trial counsel, testified at the evidentiary hearing that it was Petitioner's decision whether to testify. App. 485, ll. 21-23. However, Robinson recommended Petitioner not testify because "I'm not sure exactly what he could add to this whole defense in this case. I mean, he could say, well I was moving, well, . . . I didn't live there. But he can't get around the fact that when they [law enforcement] busted in this house, that he was right next to the drugs. That's what he couldn't get around." App. 485, l. 18 – 486, l. 4. Noting that Petitioner's trial was before this Court's decision in State v. Beaty, 423 S.C. 26, 813 S.E.2d 502 (2018), was published, Robinson emphasized that if Petitioner chose to testify, he would have lost his right to the last closing argument, which Robinson thought "was important in this case." App. 486, ll. 4-9.

After noting trial counsel's testimony that it was Petitioner's decision not to testify and the fact that the trial judge fully advised Petitioner on the record of his right to testify at trial, the PCR court found the "record indicates clearly that [Petitioner] made a choice, of his own free will and volition, not to testify after having been fully advised of his rights and ramifications of testifying or, in the alternative, not testifying. [Petitioner] chose not to testify." App. 501. Consequently, the court concluded Petitioner failed to prove both deficient performance and prejudice as required pursuant to Strickland v Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). App. 501-502.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In order

to show ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, Petitioner must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Id. at 686; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

The United States Supreme Court has established a two pronged test to evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove “that counsel’s performance was deficient” and fell below reasonable professional norms, and the deficient performance prejudiced Petitioner. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. Under the second prong, Petitioner must show “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result would have been different.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668).

Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to prepare Petitioner to testify before trial and for ultimately advising him not to testify in this defense merely because counsel did not want to lose the right to the last closing argument. Petitioner testified at the evidentiary hearing that on the morning of his arrest he was in the process of moving from the trailer where he lived with his wife. He explained that he only went to the apartment where he was ultimately arrested to pick up a friend who had agreed to help him move a mattress. Petitioner denied the drugs belonged to him and vehemently maintained his innocence.