STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Greenville County  
Hon. J. Cordell Maddox, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2018-001115

RECEIVED

JUN 27 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Antonio Ochoa-Tavera,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

## STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. The court properly granted Petitioner a belated direct appeal pursuant to White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 108 S.E.2d 35 (1974).
- II. The PCR court properly found Petitioner failed to establish his right to effective assistance of counsel was violated when trial counsel properly prepared Petitioner for trial and allowed Petitioner to make the ultimate decision regarding whether to testify at trial.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Procedural History

In November 2014, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Applicant for Trafficking Methamphetamine (2014-GS-23-9505). Scott D. Robinson, Esquire represented the Applicant. Assistant Solicitor Joyce Monts, Esquire prosecuted the case. On February 9, 2015, Applicant to trial before the Honorable Daniel D. Hall and a jury. The jury found Applicant guilty. On February 11, 2015 Judge Hall sentenced Applicant to twenty-five years imprisonment for trafficking methamphetamine, 200-400 grams. Applicant did not appeal his conviction or sentence.

Petitioner filed his application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on July 16, 2015. After a return by the State, an evidentiary hearing was held on April 16, 2018. After hearing testimony, the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox issued an Order of Dismissal and Grant of Appeal Pursuant to White v. State. Petitioner timely served and filed his Petition for Writ of Certiorari and an Anders brief pursuant to White v. State. This Return follows.

## ARGUMENT

**I. The court properly granted Petitioner a belated direct appeal pursuant to White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 108 S.E.2d 35 (1974).**

The PCR court properly granted Petitioner a belated direct appeal pursuant to White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 108 S.E.2d 35 (1974), when Petitioner did not knowingly and intelligently waive his right to a direct appeal. Counsel for the State conceded Petitioner's entitlement to a belated appeal. There is evidence to support the PCR court's decision to grant the belated direct appeal and this Court should grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari as to this Question and consider Petitioner's belated direct appeal.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> The State will respond to Petitioner's Anders Brief of Appellant Pursuant to White v. State in a separate informal return.

**II. The PCR court properly found Petitioner failed to establish his right to effective assistance of counsel was violated when trial counsel properly prepared Petitioner for trial and allowed Petitioner to make the ultimate decision regarding whether to testify at trial.**

The PCR court properly denied Petitioner relief and found counsel was not ineffective when he properly prepared Petitioner for trial and allowed Petitioner to make the ultimate decision regarding whether to testify at trial. There is evidence from both the PCR hearing as well as Petitioner's trial supporting the PCR court's determination trial counsel allowed Petitioner to make the ultimate decision regarding whether to testify at trial after explaining his thoughts to Petitioner.

**Standard of Review**

The Court defers to the PCR court's factual findings and will uphold them if supported by any evidence in the record. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 179–181, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). Furthermore, the appellate court affords great deference to a PCR court's credibility findings. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012). Questions of law are reviewed de novo, and the Court will reverse the PCR court if its decision is controlled by an error of law. Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014).

**Merits**

In a post-conviction relief action, an applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRCP; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). When an applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, he or she must prove "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Butler at 442, 334 S.E.2d 441 (quoting Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984)). The proper measure

of performance is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Id.

“[C]ounsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Butler at 442, 334 S.E.2d 441 (quoting Strickland at 690). The applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). “Judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance must be highly deferential, as it is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel’s assistance after conviction or an adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel’s defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 456-57, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011). “[W]hen counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 567, 689 S.E.2d 629, 632 (2010) (citing Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 110, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000)).

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” Cherry at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (citing Strickland at 688). Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (citing Strickland at 694).

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. Strickland at 696.

A court need not first determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies; if it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 696-97.

Petitioner asserted counsel failed to prepare him for trial and advised him not to testify even though his testimony would have been beneficial. The PCR court found counsel properly allowed Petitioner to make the ultimate decision on testifying at trial. Further, the court broadly concluded Petitioner failed to prove trial counsel "committed either errors or omissions in his representation" of Petitioner. These findings are supported by the PCR hearing and trial.

First, the issue of whether trial counsel properly prepared Petitioner is not preserved for review on appeal. The issue was not specifically addressed by the PCR court so it is not properly before the court. See Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 410, 653 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2007) ("Because respondent did not make a Rule 59(e) motion asking the PCR judge to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on his allegations, the issues were not preserved for appellate review.").

On the merits, the issue also fails. Trial counsel testified he met multiple times with Petitioner and brought a bilingual assistant with him to ensure Petitioner understood what was being discussed. Trial counsel indicated Petitioner signed for discovery at least twice. He explained: "we went over any discovery we had, any witnesses, the charges, penalties, defenses, all that kind of information." He continued: "Explained to him the law regarding trafficking, regarding actual and constructive possession, mere presence, conspiracy, aiding and abetting, the hand of one is the hand of all, that kind of stuff." (App. 481). It is clear based on his testimony, trial counsel acted reasonable in preparing Petitioner for trial and in preparing trial as a whole.

As to the decision to testify, trial counsel testified: “Well, I take the position when it comes to testimony by clients, it’s their decision.” (App.485). Further, he explained that he would offer his thoughts on whether the defendant should testify. In this case, he indicated Petitioner’s testimony would not likely add to the defense and that he believe obtaining last argument would be beneficial. (App.485-486).<sup>2</sup> He did not provide erroneous advice, but instead just provided Petitioner with his thoughts on the benefits and consequences of him testifying or not testifying. He certainly was not unreasonable in ensuring Petitioner knew all the ramifications of his decision, and counsel was very clear it was Petitioner’s decision.

Significantly, the trial transcript belies Petitioner’s argument. At the hearing, trial counsel explains without contradiction by Petitioner: “I have spoken to my client, Mr. Ochoa, this morning and he’s not going to testify or present a case.” (App.349). The trial court then explains Petitioner’s rights:

You have a right to claim protections guaranteed by our Constitution and that's under what we call the Fifth Amendment.

One of those rights is that no person shall be compelled in a criminal case to be a witness against himself. This means that you cannot be required to testify in this case. You have a right, **if you wish**, to testify on your behalf. However, no one can make you testify. This is what we call a **personal right and no one can waive or give up that right except you. Your lawyer doesn't do it for you. It has to be solely your decision.**

If you decided to testify you would be subject to the same rules that govern every other witness. And if you testified, you would be examined by your lawyer. And a lawyer for the State can cross-examine you on any relevant issue.

In addition, if you have any convictions on your criminal record that involved dishonesty or false statement for crimes that carry more than one year, the court would have to determine whether those are admissible or not.

---

<sup>2</sup> This trial occurred prior to the Court’s decision in State v. Beaty, 423 S.C. 26, 813 S.E.2d 502 (2018).

If **you decide to testify**, then your decision must be **freely, voluntarily, and intelligently made** with the full knowledge of all the protections under our Fifth Amendment and any consequences if you testified.

If **you decide not to testify** I will instruct the jurors that they cannot give the fact that you did not testify any consideration, and that I would instruct the jury that there is to be no prejudice to you because you did not testify.

It's **left entirely up to you** whether or not you testify. You can talk with your lawyer, your family, friends, anybody else, **but the final decision about whether to testify or not testify is left entirely up to you.**

(App. 350-352) (emphasis added). Petitioner indicated he understood what the trial court explained to him, which would include several admonitions that the decision belonged to Petitioner and Petitioner alone. (App. 352). Petitioner indicated he spoke with counsel about the decision, did not need more time to make his decision, and did not wish to testify. (App. 352-353).

After taking a moment to allow Petitioner and his co-defendant to talk with their lawyers, the following colloquy occurred:

Court: Mr. Ochoa-Tavera, do you intend to present any evidence?  
Petitioner: No.  
Court: And your lawyer has explained that to you?  
Petitioner: Yes.  
Court: And that is your decision?  
Petitioner: Yes.

(App.354-355). Petitioner was explained all the benefits and consequences of his decision whether or not to testify. He was given the thoughts of counsel to assist in making his decision. As he explained to the trial court, and the PCR court found, the decision was ultimately his and he knowingly and intelligently made that decision. As a result, the PCR court correctly determined Petitioner failed to prove counsel was ineffective.